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Chapter 1 
Introduction 
1.1 The Committee of Privileges reports to the Senate on its inquiry into 
allegations that false or misleading evidence may have been given to the former Nauru 
select committee.1 The reference was in two parts.2  
Surveillance of a senator 
1.2 The first matter, raised by Senator Di Natale,3 relates to conflicting accounts 
of the surveillance of Senator Hanson-Young undertaken by employees of Wilson 
Security during her visit to Nauru in December 2013. According to the evidence 
considered by the select committee – including evidence given in response to media 
reports – there are two different explanations of the surveillance: the first, that it had 
been wide-ranging and was authorised by Wilson Security managers; the second, that 
it was more limited in scope, occurring over only one night and arose out of the 
unauthorised actions of an individual. 
1.3 Because the two accounts were at odds, Senator Di Natale was concerned that 
false or misleading evidence may have been given to the select committee. This matter 
is primarily dealt with in chapter 2 of the report. 
Recording of incident, 19 July 2013  
1.4 The second matter, raised by the chair of the former select committee, Senator 
Gallacher, related to evidence about the existence of video footage of a disturbance at 
the regional processing centre in Nauru in July 2013. At two public hearings of the 
select committee, representatives of Wilson Security indicated that the company held 
no such footage. ABC Television’s 7.30 program subsequently broadcast footage 
apparently connected to the disturbance. Wilson Security then corrected its evidence.4  
1.5 Senator Gallacher’s letter expressed his concern that the evidence dealing 
with this matter was indicative of ‘deliberate and continual obfuscation’ by Wilson 
Security during the conduct of the inquiry.5 This matter is primarily dealt with in 
chapter 3. 

Conduct of the inquiry 
1.6 When the Privileges Committee receives a reference involving a possible 
contempt, its first task is to attempt to establish the underlying facts. The committee’s 
usual process involves writing to those it understands to be affected by the terms of 

                                              
1  The Select Committee on the Recent Allegations relating to conditions and circumstances at 

Australia’s Regional Processing Centre in Nauru. 

2  The terms of reference for the two matters appear at paragraph 2.1 and 3.1, respectively. 

3  The letters raising each matter appear in the Appendix, together with the President’s statement 
granting precedence in debate. 

4  Select Committee, Report, at paragraphs 5.14 and 5.32–5.33. 

5  The letter appears in the Appendix. 
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reference seeking a submission, prior to determining whether, and what, particular 
allegations ought be investigated in accordance with the Senate’s Privilege 
Resolutions.6  
1.7 Accordingly, the committee wrote to the department, Transfield and Wilson 
Security on 13 November 2015, and received a submission from each. On 9 February 
2016 the committee wrote to each entity again with specific questions and wrote to 
Transfield once more, on 3 March 2016, seeking further clarification.7 
1.8 The committee wrote to Senator Hanson-Young inviting her to provide further 
information and received on 8 April 2016 a response made on her behalf, providing 
personal observations about incidents on Nauru that she noted at the time as being 
suspicious, and again summarising the evidence before the select committee and 
media reports. That letter is reproduced in the Appendix.  
1.9 The committee also wrote to those it understood to have provided submissions 
to the select committee alleging that widespread surveillance had been authorised. The 
committee did not receive a response to these letters. Finally, the committee wrote to 
Mr Hayden Cooper, the ABC journalist whose story appeared on the ABC 7.30 
program, asking whether he was able to assist the committee with information relating 
to the matter. Again, the committee received no response to that inquiry.  
1.10 In relation to each matter referred, the committee is required to consider 
whether a contempt may have been committed. Before turning to the matters in 
evidence, it is useful to outline the principles attaching to the committee’s 
consideration of contempt matters. 

Consideration of contempt matters 
1.11 The Senate’s contempt jurisdiction is intended to protect the ability of the 
Senate, its committees and its members to carry out their functions and exercise their 
authority without improper interference. This overarching principle informs any 
inquiry into a possible contempt.  
1.12 In Commonwealth law, contempt is assessed by reference to a statutory test in 
section 4 of the Parliamentary Privileges Act 1987: 

4  Essential element of offences 
Conduct (including the use of words) does not constitute an offence against 
a House [that is, a contempt] unless it amounts, or is intended or likely to 
amount, to an improper interference with the free exercise by a House or 
committee of its authority or functions, or with the free performance by a 
member of the member’s duties as a member. 

                                              
6  A set of Senate resolutions, adopted on 25 February 1988, which declare the manner in which 

the Senate itself will observe its privileges and provide procedural direction to its committees. 
They are published on the Senate’s website. 

7  The submissions and responses received by the committee are published in the volume of 
documents which accompanies this report. 

http://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/Chamber_documents/Senate_chamber_documents/standingorders/c00
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1.13 Any conduct may constitute an offence if it satisfies this test. This principle is 
also articulated in the Privilege Resolutions which guide the committee’s work. 
Among these is Privilege Resolution 3, which sets out the criteria the committee (and 
the Senate) must take into account when determining whether an act might amount to 
a contempt. To summarise the requirements of resolution 3, the committee must 
consider: 

(a) whether the use of the contempt jurisdiction is necessary to protect the 
Senate, its committees and senators against improper acts that may 
obstruct them in the performance of their functions; 

(b) whether there is an alternative remedy; and 

(c) whether a person who committed an act which might be held to be a 
contempt did so knowingly, or had any reasonable excuse for doing so. 

False or misleading evidence as a possible contempt 
1.14 Privilege Resolution 6 sets out a non-exhaustive lists of matters that the 
Senate may treat as contempts. It includes a prohibition on giving false or misleading 
evidence, described in the following terms: 

Offences by witnesses etc. 
(12) A witness before the Senate or a committee shall not: 

… 

(c) give any evidence which the witness knows to be false or 
misleading in a material particular, or which the witness does not 
believe on reasonable grounds to be true or substantially true in every 
material particular. 

1.15 The rationale for this prohibition is clear. Committees rely upon the integrity 
of the evidence presented to them. If evidence is deceptive or misleading, the value of 
the inquiry process is compromised. The giving of false or misleading evidence is 
therefore an act which has a substantial tendency to obstruct a committee in the 
performance of its functions, satisfying Privilege Resolution 3(a).  
1.16 In its 119th report the committee reflected on earlier inquiries involving 
allegations of false or misleading evidence. The relevant principles are that evidence 
‘which has the effect of misleading the Senate or its committees’ is misleading 
evidence for the purposes of the Senate’s Privilege Resolutions, however – in order 
for a contempt to be found – ‘there should also be evidence that a witness intended to 
give misleading evidence’.8 This approach accords with the requirement that the 
committee consider whether a person who committed an act which might be held to be 
a contempt did so knowingly, or had any reasonable excuse for doing so.9 

                                              
8  Committee of Privileges, 119th report – Possible false or misleading evidence before the 

Environment, Communications, Information Technology and the Arts Legislation Committee, 
August 2004, at paragraph 1.24. 

9  See Privilege Resolution 3(c). 
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1.17 As the committee noted on that occasion: 
The difficulty of establishing that a witness deliberately intended to mislead 
the Senate or a committee has hitherto prevented the committee from 
making any findings of contempt on this ground.10 

1.18 Often the purpose of invoking the contempt jurisdiction is to instigate 
corrective action. If, through the investigation of a matter involving possible false or 
misleading evidence, that evidence is clarified or corrected – so that, for instance, the 
impairment to a committee’s work may be rectified – then the investigation may have 
achieved its aim. 

Outline of report 
1.19 Returning to the substance of the matters before the committee, chapter 2 
deals with evidence relating to the surveillance of Senator Hanson-Young, while 
chapter 3 deals with the disturbance of 19 July 2013. Chapter 4 contains the 
committee’s conclusions and findings.  
1.20 It is important to note that the surveillance matter involves questions as to 
whether conflicting accounts indicate that false or misleading evidence was given. The 
committee has not been asked to investigate the surveillance itself as a possible 
contempt. The committee makes some observations on that matter in chapter 4, under 
the heading Improper interference with a senator’s duties. 
 

                                              
10  Committee of Privileges, 119th report, at paragraph 1.24. 



  

 

Chapter 2 
Surveillance of a senator 

Background 
2.1 The first matter was raised by Leader of the Australian Greens, Senator 
Di Natale, and referred in the following terms: 

(a) Whether any false or misleading evidence was given to the former 
Select Committee on the Recent Allegations relating to Conditions 
and Circumstances at the Regional Processing Centre in Nauru in 
relation to the apparent surveillance of a senator while on a visit to 
Nauru in December 2013; and 

(b) If so, whether any contempt was committed in that regard.1 

Two conflicting accounts of events 
2.2 Wilson Security provides security services to the regional processing centre at 
Nauru, as a subcontractor to Transfield Services.2 Transfield is, in turn, contracted to 
the Department of Immigration and Border Security. In evidence to the select 
committee, and in media reports, it emerged that employees of Wilson Security had 
undertaken surveillance of Senator Hanson-Young during her visit to Nauru to inspect 
the regional processing centre. Two very different accounts of the surveillance were 
given.  
2.3 Two submissions made to the select committee – submissions 62 and 99 – 
apparently from former Wilson Security employees, contained allegations that Wilson 
Security had authorised members of an Emergency Response Team (ERT) to spy on 
Senator Hanson-Young’s movements both inside and outside the centre throughout 
her visit from 15 to 18 December 2013. On 13 August 2015, similar allegations were 
broadcast on ABC Television’s 7.30 program and the following day on ABC Radio’s 
AM.  
2.4 In response to those submissions, Wilson Security conceded that it had been 
made aware of surveillance activities immediately after they occurred, but rejected 
any suggestion that they had been authorised. Wilson’s evidence was that the 
surveillance occurred on a single night only, was unauthorised, and was stopped 
immediately it was discovered. Transfield and the department each gave evidence to 
the select committee indicating that they accepted Wilson’s account. 
2.5 These matters were dealt with in the report of the Nauru select committee3 
and in the additional comments appended to that report by Australian Greens 
                                              
1  Journals of the Senate, 10 November 2015, p. 3335. 

2  Transfield advised the committee it has changed its name to Broadspectrum (Australia) P/L, or 
BAPL, however the name Transfield is primarily used throughout this report. 

3 Select Committee, Report, under the headings Allegations of contractor staff ‘spying’ on a 
senator at paragraphs 2.124 – 2.137, and Surveillance of a member of the committee, at 
paragraphs 5.40 – 5.42. 
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senators.4 The letter from Senator Di Natale raising the matter of privilege 
summarises much of the information in those additional comments. The attachments 
to Senator Di Natale’s letter, which appear in the volume of documents accompanying 
this report, include extracts of the evidence provided to the select committee, as well 
as transcripts of relevant media reports. 
2.6 The evidence on the surveillance matter may be broadly divided into two 
parts. First, evidence about the two conflicting accounts of events – primarily 
involving the submissions noted above and responses from Wilson Security. 
Secondly, evidence about the subsequent reporting and investigation of the incident. 
The evidence from Transfield and from the department primarily relates to the second 
matter, which is dealt with later in this chapter. 

Evidence about the conflicting accounts 
2.7 In formulating its approach to this matter, the committee agreed that the 
central questions are: 

• whether the surveillance was sanctioned (and, if so, what was the scope 
of the surveillance and how high up the chain of command did the 
authorisation go); and 

• whether – by denying that the surveillance was authorised, or by 
denying knowledge of the surveillance and/or its authorisation – any 
person knowingly gave false or misleading evidence to the select 
committee. 

2.8 As allegations about the surveillance emerged during the select committee’s 
inquiry, Wilson Security had the opportunity to provide written responses and 
evidence at public hearings. The allegations, and Wilson’s responses, are dealt with 
here. 
Submission 62 
2.9 Submission 62 claimed that Wilson Security had ‘organised a team from ERT 
to spy’ on Senator Hanson-Young while she was on Nauru:  

This included following her around the island while she was outside of the 
OPCs [offshore processing centres] and setting up an observation post to 
watch her room at the Menen hotel. The briefing was given by ERT 
supervisor [name redacted in published submission] in which he gave 
orders to spy on the senator. This briefing included her room number, 
vehicle registration and even using code name “Raven” over the radio to 
make reference to her.   

2.10 This is the only information about the surveillance contained in submission 
62. The author provided his name to the select committee but asked that it not be 
published. (The submission also included information about video footage of the riot 
in July 2013, which is dealt with in chapter 3.) 

                                              
4  Select Committee, Report, under the heading Surveillance of a member of the Australian 

Senate, at paragraphs 1.105 – 1.115. 
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2.11 In a written response, Wilson Security rejected the allegation that it organised 
such a team, but conceded that it had been made aware of the surveillance: 

Wilson Security is aware of individuals who attended the Menen Hotel at 
the same time as Senator Hanson-Young. We understand that their primary 
motivation was the security of the Senator. 

This activity was not authorised by Wilson Security, and is not a part of our 
scope of works in providing security at the Regional Processing Centre. 

The matter was immediately investigated by Wilson Security and the 
individuals involved were subject to disciplinary action for acting beyond 
their brief.5 

2.12 Wilson Security gave evidence that its ERT supervisor became aware of the 
surveillance at around 5.10am on 16 December 2013, during a shift handover. This 
accords with a file note provided to the select committee, time-stamped 5.45pm the 
same day. The note, written by the ERT supervisor, stated that the night team leader 
had arranged surveillance of the senator’s car at her hotel overnight, and that he had 
done so without authorisation, and of his own volition.6 This account is also supported 
by an affidavit made by the night team leader (later provided to the select committee 
in confidence, dated 7 August 2015) which says that he ordered, without higher 
authorisation, the surveillance to take place. 

Media reports 
2.13 On 13 August 2015, the ABC television program, 7.30, broadcast a segment 
titled ‘Spying and abuse described by Nauru detention centre’s former staff.’7 This 
included an interview with someone described as a former Wilson Security guard. The 
relevant extract is as follows: 

HAYDEN COOPER [Journalist]: Wilson admitted the spying, but said it 
was limited in scope to one supervisor and two of his staff. 

WILSON SECURITY REPRESENTATIVE [Footage of committee 
proceedings on 20 July 2015]: Senator, there was no reporting that came 
out of this [It] didn’t inform any decision-making. It was the rogue actions 
of a misaligned individual. 

HAYDEN COOPER: But several former guards have told 7.30 that in fact 
up to eight Wilson employees were involved. 

FORMER WILSON SECURITY GUARD: What I was aware of or what 
I’d heard from other guys who were involved was that they were briefed on 
her room number, the vehicle and what time she was going to be in and out 

                                              
5  Wilson Security, response to Select committee submission 62, dated 2 June 2015. 

6  File note (redacted version) provided by Wilson Security on 17 July 2015 as part of response to 
questions on notice. 

7  ABC 7.30 transcript, 13 August 2015, http://www.abc.net.au/7.30/content/2015/s4293119.htm 
(accessed 14 January 2016) 

 

http://www.abc.net.au/7.30/content/2015/s4293119.htm
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of the camp. They were also told to follow her and they were told to keep 
notes on who she was talking to around the island and in her room. 

HAYDEN COOPER: So it was quite an extensive spying operation? 

FORMER WILSON SECURITY GUARD: Yes. 

HAYDEN COOPER: Do you have any doubts about that at all? 

FORMER WILSON SECURITY GUARD: I have no doubts. 

HAYDEN COOPER: Later when news spread, they panicked. 

FORMER WILSON SECURITY GUARD: Basically, the individuals 
involved and the supervisor were called into the Wilson office. They were 
told to shred pages from their notebooks and any reports they had written 
up.8 

2.14 During the select committee’s hearing on 20 August 2015, Mr John Rogers, 
for Wilson Security responded: 

I have seen the allegations of anywhere from six to eight additional staff 
being briefed. It causes me concern. However, we have investigated this 
matter…and we have been unable to determine any further involvement 
than what we have very clearly and factually described to you.9 

Submission 99 
2.15 The select committee received and published on 19 August 2015 another 
submission (submission 99) alleging authorised, widespread surveillance. This was an 
anonymous submission ‘regarding recent allegations concerning events on Nauru’.10 
The submission went into more detail about the surveillance: 

This operation involved approximately 6-8 ERT members and consisted of 
recording her every movement both in and out of the camps, they were also 
to report on whom she spoke with and if possible they were to ascertain 
what was said.  

Staff were requested to compile reports on her movements, contact with 
employees or Stakeholders. These reports and video surveillance footage 
were to be handed to the Intelligence unit for collation and dissemination. 11 

2.16 Wilson Security provided a detailed response reiterating their arguments 
dismissing submission 62, and adding: 

We reject the allegation that management authorised and sanctioned any 
such operation regarding the collection of information on Senator Hanson-
Young. We also reject the claim that we have misled the Committee in any 

                                              
8  ABC 7.30 transcript, http://www.abc.net.au/7.30/content/2015/s4293119.htm (accessed 

14 January 2016).  

9  Select Committee Hansard, 20 August 2015, p. 28 of Proof Hansard. 

10  Anonymous, Select committee submission 99, p. 1. 

11  Anonymous, Select committee submission 99, p. 1. 

http://www.abc.net.au/7.30/content/2015/s4293119.htm
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way… Despite a thorough investigation, we have not found any evidence in 
support of these allegations.12 

Submission 95 
2.17 The select committee also received a submission from a former Wilson 
Security employee, Mr Jon Nichols, covering many matters relating to the operation 
of the RPC, including allegations of widespread surveillance of Senator Hanson-
Young. Mr Nichols’ evidence was noted in the response to the Privileges Committee 
made on behalf of Senator Hanson-Young.13 Mr Nichols was questioned by the select 
committee on other matters during the hearing on 20 August 2015, where questions 
were raised about the veracity of parts of his evidence.14 Mr Nichols also alleged that 
a fellow Wilson Security employee, Mr Louis Davies had shown him recorded 
footage of Senator Hanson-Young while the senator was on Nauru. Mr Davies 
provided a response to the select committee in the following terms: 

In Regards to the elements stated in the transcript referring to myself by 
Mr Nichols, I can confirm his statements are untrue.15 

2.18 The committee notes that much of the evidence given by Mr Nichols on the 
surveillance matter relies on what he says he was told, rather than what he observed 
first-hand, making it inherently more difficult to test. 
Evidence from Wilson Security to the Privileges Committee 
2.19 The Privileges Committee received a joint submission from Mr John Rogers 
and Mr Brett McDonald, who had each given evidence to the select committee on 
behalf of Wilson Security. They describe the various allegations – what they refer to 
as the ‘contradictory statements’ – as deriving from unsworn statements by ex-
employees: 

Together the contradictory statements effectively assert that 6 to 8 ERT 
members conducted spying or observation on Senator Hanson-Young 
whilst she visited Nauru in December 2013, and that the spying was 
authorised and sanctioned by Wilson Security management. 

Wilson Security has previously provided several statements to the Inquiry 
to the effect that: 

• only 3 Wilson Security staff members were involved in this 
regrettable incident, and 

• Wilson Security management neither authorised nor sanctioned the 
surveillance.16 

                                              
12  Letter to the select committee, dated 25 August 2015, page 1. 

13  At pages 3–4. 

14  See Select Committee Report, Dissenting Report by Coalition Senators, at paragraphs 1.18 – 
1.25. 

15  Response from Mr Louis Davies, 27 August 2015. 

16  Wilson Security submission, 27 November 2015, paragraph 3.1. 
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2.20 They go on to recite the various statements to that effect made to the select 
committee, before stating: 

We are not aware of greater surveillance or observation than that which was 
referred to in our evidence given to the Select Committee. We have 
extensively investigated this issue and have obtained a signed affidavit from 
the Supervisor involved, which was corroborated by the others involved. 

Mr Rogers did not knowingly give false or misleading evidence. There is 
no credible evidence that the evidence provided by Mr Rogers is in fact 
false. In any case, Mr Rogers did not give false or misleading evidence 
knowingly.17 

2.21 The submission also offers some observations about submissions 62 and 99, 
and the ABC media reports, suggesting that they lack credibility, are unclear and 
vague, and untested. As examples of what they call ‘the inadequacies in the 
statements’, they note: 

Submission 62 states that the writer ‘witnessed or became aware of’ certain 
things, but for the most part does not distinguish between personal 
observations and rumours that the writer has heard. 

Similarly, Submission 99 purports to make sweeping observations about the 
state of mind of ‘Wilson management’, without basis, attribution or 
identifying what tier of management it refers to. 

There is also no ability to analyse the motives, or the personal situation, of 
the person making the allegation, which is vitally important in assessing its 
reliability. Submission 62, for example, seems to have been written by 
someone with a grudge against our employer. The extent to which this 
affects the issues now at hand, and which might have consequences for 
each of us, is untested. 

The ABC broadcast on 13 August 2015 includes an interview with an 
anonymous person said to be a former Wilson Security guard. The dates of 
the guard’s employment are never disclosed, a detail which is likely to have 
been relevant to a number of questions. The nature of the questioning falls 
well short of the scrutiny and analysis that would apply in a court or 
Committee environment. For the most part they are leading questions or 
invitations to speculate. Again, there is no attempt to distinguish between 
personal observations and accounts heard from others. The statements and 
allegations made have simply not been tested.18 

2.22 The committee notes the identification by Wilson of possible short-comings in 
the submissions and other statements, particularly the suggestion that much of the 
evidence turns on the submitter reporting accounts ‘heard from others’, rather than 
personal observations. The committee agrees that there was insufficient opportunity 
for senators on the select committee to properly test the veracity of some of the 
statements and allegations made, particularly as the select committee was unable to 

                                              
17  Wilson Security submission, 27 November 2015, paragraph 3.1. 

18  Wilson Security submission, 27 November 2015, paragraph 3.3. 
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question the submitters about their evidence. As will be seen, the same difficulty 
arises here for the Privileges Committee. 

Availability of corroborating evidence 
2.23 Apart from the evidence put before the select committee, the Privileges 
Committee has before it additional submissions and responses from Wilson Security, 
as well as from Transfield and the department who, broadly speaking, accept the 
evidence provided by Wilson on this point. However, the committee has not been able 
to elicit any additional evidence from parties alleging that wide-ranging surveillance 
occurred. 
2.24 Using contact details obtained from the records of the select committee,19 the 
committee wrote to a number of people identified in those records, including the 
unnamed authors of submissions 62 and 99. The committee received no response to 
that correspondence.  
2.25 One difficulty with assessing the select committee evidence is that it is not 
clear what – if any – connection there is between the unnamed author of submission 
62, the anonymous author of submission 99 and the former guard who was 
interviewed in the ABC segments, whose identity is not known. The additional 
comments appended to the report of the select committee by Australian Greens 
senators include a note that ‘The Australian Greens understand from the ABC that its 
reports relied on the evidence of three former Wilson guards, none of whom gave 
evidence to [the select] committee.’20 The response provided on behalf of Senator 
Hanson-Young repeats this statement, adding ‘On that basis, there seem to be five 
separate current or former Wilson Security guards who have made the suggestion that 
the evidence submitted by Wilson may be incorrect.’ The Privileges Committee is not 
in a position to test this detail or confirm this conclusion. 
2.26 With this in mind, the committee also wrote to the ABC reporter, Mr Haydon 
Cooper, indicating that it would welcome any assistance he could provide in putting 
the former guards referred to in his report in contact with the committee, and would 
also welcome any information he was able to provide in relation to this matter. The 
committee received no response to this request. The committee draws no inference 
from this, noting the journalistic imperative to protect sources. However, without this 
information, the committee has no way of testing the sources behind the media 
reports. 
Committee’s view about the conflicting accounts of surveillance 
2.27 On its consideration of the conflicting accounts given of the surveillance – the 
matter deemed to be the principal focus of this part of the inquiry – the committee is 
in the same position at the end of the inquiry as at the beginning: faced with two 
conflicting versions of events, and unable – absent further cogent evidence – to 
determine the matter. Without adopting wholesale the ‘inadequacies in the statements’ 

                                              
19  See Journals of the Senate, 24 November 2015, p. 3450, for the resolution authorising access. 

20  Select Committee, Report, Additional comments, paragraph 1.112. 
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identified by Wilson Security, above, the committee agrees that it ought not make a 
finding against any person on the basis of evidence it is not able to test.  
2.28 The evidence provided by Wilson Security, and accepted by Transfield and 
the department, was that the surveillance was an isolated incident organised by a 
single employee acting without authority. The account provided in the media and in 
submissions 62 and 99 was of authorised, systematic and widespread surveillance; 
however, without cogent evidence in relation to this version of events the committee 
has no basis upon which to conclude that the evidence given by Wilson Security was 
false or misleading.  
2.29 Of course, the reverse is also true. The committee is not in a position to 
conclusively determine whether the evidence submitted to the select committee in 
submissions 62 and 99 is false or misleading and, lacking access to their authors, the 
committee cannot assess their intentions in putting the evidence forward. However, 
through this inquiry, further information has been placed on the public record which 
may assist those seeking to assess the conflicting accounts. 
2.30 The committee also notes, for completeness, the following statement in the 
submission from Mr Rogers and Mr McDonald: 

If any further observation of the Senator did in fact take place, it did not 
occur with our knowledge, and was not authorised by Wilson Security 
management. We emphasise, however, that we have absolutely no 
knowledge of any such observation, despite our thorough inquiries. Any 
inaccuracy in our evidence would be the result of us being unknowingly 
misinformed or misled by others. 21 

2.31 Lacking any evidence to the contrary, the committee would have no basis to 
conclude that Wilson Security’s representatives knowingly gave false or misleading 
evidence on the surveillance matter.  
2.32 The committee considers that the evidence before it does not establish the 
contention in the terms of reference that false or misleading evidence may have been 
given to the former Nauru select committee in relation to the apparent surveillance of 
a senator. On that basis, the committee therefore finds that no contempt was 
committed in this regard.  

Reporting and investigation of the surveillance 
2.33 The committee’s main focus in the surveillance matter was on the conflicting 
accounts about its extent and authorisation, dealt with in the first part of this chapter. 
However, the committee also received evidence about the reporting and investigation 
of the incident, including evidence clarifying or correcting information given to the 
select committee. In this regard, there are three matters on which the committee makes 
comment: 

•  the evidence from Transfield about its being informed of the incident; 

                                              
21  Wilson Security submission, 27 November 2015, paragraph 3.3. 
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•  the decisions taken by Wilson Security and Transfield not to report the 
incident; and 

•  the evidence from the department about its investigations into the incident.  
2.34 Each of these matters is dealt with briefly, in turn. They exemplify confused 
or conflicting evidence being put before the select committee and delays in 
discharging accountability obligations, including the requirement to correct evidence. 
Again, the focus for the committee is whether any false or misleading evidence was 
given.  

When was Transfield informed of the incident? 
2.35 Transfield did not receive a copy of the Wilson Security file note about the 
surveillance until 5 June 2015, while ‘undertaking a further investigation of the 
allegations raised in submission 62’,22 but evidence given to the select committee 
indicated that Transfield first became aware of the surveillance shortly after it 
occurred: 

Senator Ludlam: …When were you first made aware of the allegations 
that those out of scope activities had occurred? 

Mrs Munnings: I can take up the evidence at that point. I understand – and 
the evidence is – that at 7.40am on 16 December 2013 Wilson reported the 
matter to Transfield, having been made aware of it by the individuals 
involved contemporaneously to that time. 

Senator Ludlam: Okay, 7.40 am coincides with the file note, which I am 
presuming that you have a copy of—by Ben Gilbert relating to the CSO, 
Jason Kahika. So, on your evidence, if it was around 7.40 on Monday, the 
16th, Transfield was notified immediately the security manager was made 
aware of it. Does that sound consistent? 

Mrs Munnings: Our evidence is that after Wilson were made aware of it 
they informed Transfield, correct.23 

2.36 This evidence appears to provide independent confirmation of matters put into 
evidence by Wilson Security. In its submission to the Privileges Committee, 
Transfield restated that evidence, and attested to its accuracy.24 However, Transfield 
provided a different answer in response to the committee’s follow up questions, in 
summary: 

•  that its operations manager on Nauru ‘was informed in general terms’ that 
Wilson Security officers had engaged in surveillance of Senator Hanson-
Young ‘some time after the unauthorised surveillance operation occurred in 
December 2013, but prior to June 2015’; 

                                              
22  Transfield Services, answer 7 to question on notice taken on 20 July 2015. 

23  Mrs Kate Munnings, Chief Executive Operations, Logistics, Construction and Consulting, 
Transfield Services, Select Committee Hansard, 20 July 2015, p. 28. 

24  Submission, Transfield Services, 26 November 2015, p. 2. 
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•  that he ‘does not have any recollection…of Mr McDonald communicating 
the information to him either on 16 December 2013 or subsequently… 
[but] accepts that the oral report described by [Wilson’s] Mr McDonald as 
having taken place on 16 December 2013 may have been the occasion on 
which he first learnt about the unauthorised surveillance operation’; and  

•  that ‘It was not until early June 2015 that BAPL (Broadspectrum Australia 
Pty Ltd formerly trading as Transfield Services) first became aware at an 
organisational level that there had been unauthorised surveillance of 
Senator Hanson-Young while she was at Nauru in December 2013.’ 25 

2.37 The committee sought clarification of this response, which seemed to 
contradict earlier evidence, including Transfield’s submission to the Privileges 
Committee. The further response goes to some lengths to assert that the original 
evidence was and remains accurate.26 In doing so, it explains that, in preparing to give 
evidence to the select committee Transfield did not seek to confirm its evidence with 
its Nauru-based operations manager; rather, the evidence given at the 20 July 2015 
hearing of the select committee was based on:  

…the identification of a contemporaneous file note created by Wilson 
Security regarding events on 16 December 2013 and BAPL accepted those 
records as accurate and comprehensive and relied on them when briefing its 
witnesses who appeared to give evidence to the Senate Select Committee 
on 20 July 2015. 27 

Committee’s view 
2.38 The committee makes the point that this qualification changes the character of 
the evidence given to the select committee. Rather than providing independent 
confirmation of Wilson’s account, it appears that the evidence given by Transfield at 
the 20 July 2015 hearing was drawn from the same source, reducing somewhat its 
value.  
2.39 The committee also notes the substantial difference between attesting to 
something being communicated at ‘7.40am on 16 December 2013’ and Transfield’s 
revised position that its operations manager on Nauru was informed ‘in general terms’ 
of the surveillance ‘some time after the unauthorised surveillance operation occurred 
in December 2013, but prior to June 2015’. It may be that members of the select 
committee would have considered the original evidence to have been misleading.  
2.40 The committee accepts that there may have been good reasons for Transfield 
not immediately seeking confirmation of that evidence, however, the original evidence 
was allowed to stand for more than 6 months – from 20 July 2015 to 25 February 

                                              
25  Response by Transfield Services/Broadspectrum to questions from the Privileges Committee, 

25 February 2016, p. 1 

26  Further response by Transfield Services/Broadspectrum to questions from the Privileges 
Committee, 11 March 2016, p.2. 

27  Further response by Transfield Services/ Broadspectrum to questions from the Privileges 
Committee, 11 March 2016, p. 2. 
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2016 – during which no attempt was made to correct the record. The committee 
considers that Transfield’s evidence about its knowledge of the surveillance has been 
confused and that it should not have taken the prompting of the Privileges Committee 
for Transfield to have provided this correction to its earlier evidence.  

Why wasn’t the incident reported? 
2.41 The select committee took considerable evidence about the incident reporting 
requirements that exist under the contractual relationships between the department, 
Transfield and Wilson Security. Within these arrangements, there are specific 
requirements about reporting incidents, which include timeframes – counted in hours 
– for reporting incidents categorised as ‘critical’, ‘major’, and ‘minor’.28 Despite these 
guidelines neither Wilson Security nor Transfield reported the surveillance incident to 
the department.  
2.42 Wilson Security explained that the incident was managed as an internal 
disciplinary matter,29 and was not reportable under departmental guidelines: 

The information and allegations in relation to the incident on 15th December 
2013 has developed over time. The incident was not categorised as 
surveillance and the classification decision was made in relation to 
unauthorised observation of the Senator’s vehicle, from another vehicle. At 
the time it was not considered likely to attract media attention. It therefore 
did not fall within Department guidelines for reporting major incidents. As 
such Wilson Security only reported the matter to Transfield. 

In hindsight, we acknowledge this may have been short-sighted. This 
assessment notwithstanding, Wilson Security undertook a thorough 
investigation with appropriate internal disciplinary action.30 

2.43 Wilson Security makes the argument that the surveillance was an internal 
disciplinary matter because the senator was not personally observed, the incident was 
confined to an unauthorised observation from the carpark and no records were 
generated as a result of this observation. While this may be correct, it is also the case 
that treating the surveillance as an internal disciplinary matter meant that the incident 
was not open to wider scrutiny. Wilson Security now considers that ‘in retrospect, the 
incident does appear to be the type of incident capable of attracting media attention’ 
and ‘that it should have been classified as a major incident and reported.’31  
2.44 Transfield, ‘with the benefit of hindsight,’ has also accepted ‘that the 
unauthorised surveillance operation was an incident that was likely to attract media 
attention and for that reason it was an incident that was captured by the Incident 
Reporting Guidelines’. Noting the evidence to the select committee that Transfield 

                                              
28  Department of Immigration and Border Protection, Select committee submission 31, and the 

contractual timeframes for reporting internal incidents at Attachment F of that submission. 

29  Wilson Security, responses to questions on notice, 17 July 2015, p. 2; Response by Wilson 
Security to Privileges Committee questions, 9 February 2016, p. 3. 

30  See Response by Wilson Security to Privileges Committee questions, 9 February 2016, p. 2. 

31  Response by Wilson Security to Privileges Committee questions, 9 February 2016, p. 3. 
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had known about the surveillance for approximately 18 months, and noting too its 
contractual arrangement with the department, it was not initially clear why Transfield 
did not report the incident to the department. The explanation referred to above – that 
no-one at Transfield, other than ‘possibly’ one manager on Nauru, knew of the 
surveillance prior to June 2015 – is also provided to explain this matter.32 Transfield 
also submits: 

…that if (as he accepts may have occurred) [Transfield’s Nauru-based 
operations manager] was informed of the operation on 16 December 2013, 
his decision that the information did not need to be reported (both in 
accordance with the Incident Reporting Guidelines or otherwise) was made 
in good faith and on the basis of his informed understanding of the 
guidelines at the time. 33 

Committee’s view about incident reporting 
2.45 It is self-evident that unauthorised surveillance of an Australian senator is an 
incident ‘likely to attract media attention’, and the committee recognises the belated 
acceptance by Wilson and Transfield that the matter falls well within their contractual 
reporting obligations.  
2.46 At the select committee’s public hearing on 9 June 2015, Mr Pezzullo, the 
Secretary of the department, confirmed his view that the incident should have been 
reported to the department:  

If I may say specifically, yes, I would expect that reporting on the 
monitoring of the activities or monitoring from a security point of view of 
the movement of an Australian senator should have been escalated to 
various senior levels of management.34 

2.47 The committee notes – and strongly agrees with – that view. Even accepting 
that internal investigation and discipline by Wilson Security of its employees was an 
appropriate response, the matter should nonetheless have been urgently brought to the 
attention of the department.  
2.48 It is also worth noting that neither Wilson Security nor Transfield thought to 
mention the surveillance in evidence to the select committee prior to being asked to 
respond to submission 62, notwithstanding that the senator in question was a member 
of that committee. Their responses to the Privileges Committee’s question as to why 
they didn’t ‘take the opportunity to tell the select committee about the surveillance’ at 
its public meeting on 19 May 2013, in essence, are because they weren’t asked.35 

                                              
32  Response by Transfield Services/Broadspectrum to questions from the Privileges Committee, 

25 February 2016, p. 4 

33  Response by BAPL/Transfield to Privileges Committee questions, 25 February 2016, p3. 

34  Select Committee Hansard, 9 June 2015, p. 63. This position was maintained at the subsequent 
hearing, Select Committee Hansard, 20 July 2015, p. 86. 

35  Responses to questions from the Privileges Committee: Wilson Security, 23 February 2016, 
p  4; Transfield/Broadspectrum, 25 February 2016, p 6. 
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2.49 The approach taken by both parties had the effect of constraining the capacity 
of the select committee to undertake its work, not only because they did not initially 
put relevant matters into evidence, but also because – by not reporting the matter to 
the department as required – Transfield and Wilson Security arguably hampered the 
department in discharging its accountability obligations to the parliament. 

What investigations did the department undertake? 
2.50 The committee notes that various different responses were provided by the 
department about its own investigations, after becoming aware of the surveillance. 
During the select committee’s public hearing on 9 June, Mr Pezzullo, Secretary of the 
department said, in relation to the surveillance, that ‘Wilson has provided its response. 
I have no reason at all to question that.’36 The department initially indicated that no 
internal investigation occurred.37 A second position was that the department was 
satisfied by the investigations one of its officers had undertaken,38 but there was no 
written report.39 The department’s initial submission to the Privileges Committee 
indicated that ‘The Department immediately conducted an investigation into the 
matter.’40  
2.51 The committee wrote again to the department on 9 February 2016 seeking to 
finally clarify the status of any investigations into the surveillance. The department’s 
final position was as follows: 

The Department did not conduct an internal investigation into the 
allegations of surveillance. 

The Department did conduct an internal investigation to determine if any 
officials were aware of the alleged surveillance prior to 4 June 2015. This 
investigation was conducted after the allegations were reported by the ABC 
news on 4 June 2015.41 

Committee’s view on investigation of surveillance 
2.52 The committee notes that the department provided a final and categorical 
statement about the department’s response to the surveillance on 25 February 2016. It 
is regrettable that this evidence was not available in this form to the select committee 
at the time it reported. Had the incident been appropriately reported, the department 

                                              
36  Mr Michael Pezzullo, Secretary, Department of Immigration and Border Protection, Select 

Committee Hansard, 9 June 2015, p. 52. 

37  Department of Immigration and Border Protection, Answers to questions on notice from 9 June 
2015, SQ15-006092. 

38  Mr Neil Skill, First Assistant Secretary, Detention Services Division, Department of 
Immigration and Border Protection, Select Committee Hansard, 20 July 2015, p. 85. 

39  Mr Neil Skill, First Assistant Secretary, Detention Services Division, Department of 
Immigration and Border Protection, Select Committee Hansard, 20 July 2015, p. 88. 

40  Submission, Department of Immigration and Border Protection, 13 November 2015, p. 3. 

41  Response from the Department of Immigration and Border Protection, 25 February 2016, p. 2. 
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no doubt would have been in a better position to discharge its accountability 
obligations to the parliament.  

Select committee observations on the reporting requirements 
2.53 The lengthy delay before the matter came to the attention of the department 
was taken by the select committee to indicate shortcomings in the effectiveness of 
Commonwealth oversight and a weakness in the reporting structure mandated in the 
contracts for the management of the regional processing centre.42 The select 
committee observed: 

The fact that the incident was not reported to the department, and that when 
it came to light the department accepted at face value the contractors’ 
advice that it had been dealt with and did not conduct any further 
investigation or action is of grave concern to the committee.43 

2.54 On the other hand, the dissenting report from Coalition senators notes: 
…the progress of implementation of the recommendations of the Moss 
Review is already putting in place enhanced and strengthened service 
delivery, and better communications between stakeholders. The 
Commonwealth government has taken the opportunity to strengthen 
contractual arrangements to ensure that service providers clearly understand 
and meet the relevant standards.44 

2.55 The Privileges Committee considers that these improvements to contractual 
reporting arrangements, and more alacrity in correcting evidence should it be found to 
be incorrect, are necessary to ensuring that parliamentary committees are able to 
undertake their work with confidence about the evidence that comes before them. 

Conclusions on the reporting and investigation of the incident 
2.56 The committee makes no findings as to whether the matters in this part of the 
report, relating to the reporting and investigation of the surveillance incident, ought 
formally be dealt with as misleading evidence. Other committees undertaking work in 
this area may take up any of the evidence now published by the committee to the 
extent that it is relevant to their inquiries. 
2.57 The committee again expresses the view that it should not require repeated 
questioning via correspondence before accurate answers are provided to Senate 
committees. The onus is on witnesses to provide accurate and clear answers and to 
correct any mistakes as soon as possible.  
2.58 The next chapter, dealing with the inconsistent evidence given in relation to 
the existence of video footage connected with the disturbance on Nauru on 19 July 
2013, provides a case in point.  
 

                                              
42  Select Committee, Report, paragraphs 5.40 – 5.42.  

43  Select Committee, Report, paragraphs 5.41. 

44  Select Committee, Report, Dissenting Report by Coalition Senators, paragraph 1.12. 



  

 

Chapter 3 
Recording of disturbance, 19 July 2013 

Overview of evidence 
3.1 The second matter was raised by the chair of the former select committee, 
Senator Gallacher and referred in the following terms: 

(a) Whether any false or misleading evidence was given to the former 
Select Committee on the Recent Allegations relating to Conditions 
and Circumstances at the Regional Processing Centre in Nauru in 
relation to a disturbance at the centre on 19 July 2013; and  

(b) If so, whether any contempt was committed in respect of those 
matters.1 

3.2 In his letter, Senator Gallacher provided on outline of his concerns: 
• The select committee had received evidence (in submission 622) that 

camera footage existed of a disturbance at the regional processing centre 
on 19 July 2013. 

• At a select committee hearing on 19 May 2015, in response to 
questioning about the use of body cameras, representatives from Wilson 
Security said there was no relevant information about the incident 
arising from any camera footage. 

• In a letter dated 20 May 2015 the select committee asked Wilson 
Security to respond to allegations in submission 62 about the conduct of 
their staff on 19 July 2013. Wilson advised that it was ‘not aware of the 
video footage referred to in the submission’.3 

• At the select committee’s public hearing on 20 July 2015, the issue of 
body cameras and camera footage was again raised and Wilson Security 
again indicated that there was no footage of the riot held by the 
company. 

• On 13 August 2015, ABC television broadcast a segment on 7.30 which 
included the footage apparently referred to in submission 62. 

• At the select committee’s public hearing on 20 August 2015, Wilson 
Security indicated that its previous evidence was incorrect. Mr Brett 
McDonald, Security Contract Manager for Wilson Security, also 
indicated that he was aware that evidence given at the previous hearing 

                                              
1  Journals of the Senate, 10 November 2015, p. 3335. 

2  Other matters raised in select committee submission 62 were dealt with above, at paragraphs 
2.9 – 2.12. 

3  Wilson Security, response to select committee submission 62, p. 4. 
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on 20 July was incorrect but he ‘did not pick it up at the time to think to 
correct it.’4 

• In addition, Wilson Security, in a response to a question taken on notice 
at the 20 August 2015 hearing, said that ‘A copy of all footage was 
provided to the Department [of Immigration and Border Protection] and 
the Nauru Police Force’.5 The Department, in its own response, advised 
the select committee that ‘the footage was not available to them.’6 

3.3 The inconsistencies in the evidence by Wilson Security outlined above led to 
concerns that false or misleading evidence may have been given to the select 
committee. Senator Gallacher concluded his letter as follows: 

My concern about the seemingly deliberate and continual obfuscation of 
Wilson Security during the conduct of the inquiry prompts me to propose 
that the matter should be referred to the Committee of Privileges to 
investigate. 

Consideration by the select committee 
3.4 The matter was dealt with in the report of the select committee under the 
heading Recording of events of 19 July 2013, at paragraphs 2.67 to 2.74, and in that 
committee’s conclusions at paragraphs 5.32 to 5.35. 
3.5 The committee was particularly critical that ‘no attempt was made to advise 
[the select committee] of the incorrect evidence in the month after it was given’,7 and 
that the error was revealed only during questioning. The select committee also made 
the point that the performance of the department was ‘called into question by their 
lack of knowledge of serious incidents [demonstrating] the limits of Commonwealth 
control or oversight of the RPC on Nauru’.8 This echoes the point made by this 
committee in the previous chapter.9 Without full knowledge of incidents, it is not 
possible for the department to properly discharge its accountability obligations to the 
parliament. 

Response by Wilson Security 
3.6 The Privileges Committee wrote to Wilson Security on 13 November 2015. 
Wilson Security provided a detailed response acknowledging that, while ‘there were 
inadvertent errors, there was never any intention to mislead the Committee.’10 Wilson 

                                              
4  Mr Brett McDonald, Security Contract Manager, Wilson Security, Committee Hansard,  

20 August 2015, p. 34. 

5  Wilson Security, answer to question on notice, 20 August 2015. 

6  Department of Immigration and Border Protection, answer to question on notice, 21 August 
2015. 

7  Select Committee, Report, paragraph 5.33. 

8  Select Committee, Report, paragraph 5.34 

9  See paragraphs 2.53 – 2.55, above. 

10  Wilson Security, response to the Privileges Committee, 27 November 2015, section 6. 
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Security addressed each of the above concerns in turn. An important aspect of the 
response lies in the distinction between footage of the disturbance and what Wilson 
Security describes as ‘pre-disturbance footage’. 
3.7 The submission confirmed that Wilson only became aware of the footage in 
question when it was aired on the 7.30 program, and provided the following further 
detail: 

The procedure followed by Wilson Security at the time of the disturbance 
was that, after the occurrence of an incident on Nauru, any available video 
footage would be collected, reviewed, and anything that was not relevant 
was deleted. The objective is to retain only relevant footage. 

This process was followed after the disturbance on 19 July 2013. The 
footage that was retained was provided to the Nauru Police, and a copy 
retained by Wilson. 

The specific footage that was shown on ABC Television, and which was 
the subject of the statement in the Submission and Mr Rogers’ response, 
was not footage that Wilson Security was able to locate during the Inquiry. 
It was clearly taken from a bodycam being worn by a Wilson Security 
officer. 

We can only presume that individual retained a copy of this particular 
footage for their own purposes, but that the footage was either deleted by 
Wilson Security or unable to be recovered from the post-disturbance 
computer system11. We do not know who held on to the video footage, or 
how it was taken from the Wilson Security computer system.12 

3.8 At the select committee hearing on 20 July 2015, Mr Rogers stated ‘I do not 
believe that we had any kind of individual video cameras in place at the time of the 
July 2013 riot’ and ‘There is none [footage] held by the company that I have been able 
to obtain.’13 Wilson Security concede that these two statements were incorrect, but 
maintain that Mr Rogers ‘believed them to be correct at the time he made them.’14 
3.9 In relation to the provision of footage to the department and the Nauru Police 
force, Wilson Security explained the confusion to the Privileges Committee by 
making a distinction between pre-disturbance footage and footage of the actual riot.  

By way of clarification, the response quoted by Senator Gallacher…was in 
reference to footage of the actual disturbance – not the pre-disturbance 
footage. The footage that aired on the ABC was not provided to the 

                                              
11  Wilson Security’s IT infrastructure was damaged during the riot on 19 July 2013 and remained 

inoperable for six months. During that period there was no server infrastructure and Wilson 
Security relied on staff saving information on individual computers. Committee Hansard,  
20 August 2015, p. 30.  

12  Wilson Security, submission, 27 November 2015, section 4.3. 

13  Mr John Rogers, Executive General Manager, Southern Pacific, Wilson Security, Committee 
Hansard, 20 July 2015, p. 42. 

14  Wilson Security, submission, 27 November 2015, section 5.5. 
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Department as it occurred prior to the disturbance taking place. This 
particular footage would also not have been made available to the Nauru 
Police force.15 

3.10 Wilson Security contend that, while mistakes were made, they were made 
innocently, and that the failure to correct the mistakes as soon as possible was due to 
oversight rather than any intention to delay or mislead the select committee. The 
submission pointed to a previous example where Wilson officers sought to correct the 
record as soon as possible, providing corrected information on 25 August 2015 to 
answers previously given on 19 May 2015.16 In concluding, Wilson Security 
representatives offered that they did their best to assist the select committee in its 
inquiries into a complex and wide ranging matter.   

Our answers often reflect a degree of uncertainty. Sometimes they reflect 
confusion about the questions. We did our best to research matters and 
make inquiries.17  

Committee view 
3.11 The committee considers that the further response provided by Wilson 
Security clarifies the matter. The response contends that the witnesses’ errors in 
providing evidence to the select committee were inadvertent, and the committee has 
no basis on which to challenge that contention. Only the members of the former select 
committee, and other committees which have taken evidence on related matters, 
would be in a position to assess whether the additional details provided to this inquiry 
comprehensively correct the record. However, this committee considers that Wilson 
Security has made a genuine attempt to satisfy the concerns raised in relation to this 
matter.  
3.12 The record now having been corrected, and accepting that Wilson Security’s 
representatives did not knowingly provide misleading evidence on the matter, the 
committee finds that no contempt was committed in this regard. 
3.13 The committee’s conclusions are in the next chapter. 

                                              
15  Wilson Security, submission, 27 November 2015, section 5.4. 

16  Wilson Security, submission, 27 November 2015, section 5.6. 

17  Wilson Security, submission, 27 November 2015, section 6. 

 



  

 

Chapter 4 
Conclusions and recommendations 

4.1 Before turning to its findings and conclusions, the committee makes some 
observations about the clarity of evidence and the accountability of witnesses to 
Senate committees. At the end of the report, the committee also makes some 
comments about the conduct which led to the first referral, that is the covert 
surveillance of a member of the Australian Senate. 

The importance of clear evidence  
4.2 As has been noted above, committees rely upon the integrity of the evidence 
presented to them. If evidence is deceptive or misleading, the value of the inquiry 
process is compromised. The committee notes that some of the evidence provided to 
the select committee, which has been referred to in this report, was unclear. For 
instance, the department made conflicting statements about whether it had conducted 
an investigation into the surveillance, Wilson Security made confusing statements 
about whether camera footage of the July 2013 disturbance existed and in relation to 
the use of body cameras, and Transfield Services heavily qualified its evidence about 
when it first became aware of the surveillance. The committee reminds all witnesses 
of their obligations to correct evidence promptly where it is found to be incorrect. 
4.3 As noted in chapter 2, the lengthy delay in reporting the surveillance incident 
impaired the ability of the department to properly discharge its accountability 
obligations.  
4.4 The committee considers it would have been appropriate for Wilson Security 
and Transfield to provide evidence about what they knew of the surveillance incident 
to the select committee, regardless of the emergence of media reports and anonymous 
submissions about it, both on the basis that the surveillance involved an Australian 
senator and because the matter was well within the terms of reference of the select 
committee. It is not unreasonable to expect an entity which is undertaking roles 
connected to activities of government to deal with an incident like this transparently. 

Findings 
4.5 The focus of the committee’s inquiry was whether false or misleading 
evidence may have been provided to the former Select Committee on the Recent 
Allegations relating to Conditions and Circumstances at the Regional Processing 
Centre in Nauru, and whether any contempt may have been committed in that regard. 
Chapter 1 sets out the principles which apply to contempt matters, and the criteria the 
committee take into account in determining whether a contempt has been committed. 
In particular, Privilege Resolution 6 provides that a witness shall not: 

… give any evidence which the witness knows to be false or misleading in 
a material particular, or which the witness does not believe on reasonable 
grounds to be true or substantially true in every material particular.1 

                                              
1  Privilege Resolution 6(12)(c). See also paragraphs 1.11 to 1.18, above. 
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4.6 Among other matters, the committee must consider whether a person who 
committed an act which might be held to be a contempt did so knowingly, or had any 
reasonable excuse for doing so. The practice in cases involving possible false or 
misleading evidence is that the committee does not make a recommendation of 
contempt unless it can be determined that a witness intended to give misleading 
evidence.2 The committee’s findings apply these principles. 

Surveillance matter 
4.7 The chief concern identified by Senator Di Natale was that false and 
misleading evidence may have been given to the select committee in relation to the 
surveillance of Senator Hanson-Young, in light of the two conflicting accounts that 
had emerged. The committee considered that the primary focus of this part of the 
reference was the question whether the surveillance had been authorised by Wilson 
Security managers and, if so, whether – by denying that the surveillance was 
authorised, or by denying knowledge of the surveillance and/or its authorisation – any 
person knowingly gave false or misleading evidence to the select committee.3  
4.8 After considering the evidence available to it, the committee was unable to 
conclusively determine the matter, partly because of its inability to elicit additional 
evidence to corroborate the version of events alleging wide-ranging, authorised 
surveillance. The committee determined that it should not make findings against 
Wilson Security on the basis of evidence it is not able to test. Neither was the  
committee in a position to conclusively determine whether the evidence submitted to 
the select committee in submissions 62 and 99 is false or misleading.4 
4.9 The committee considers that the evidence before it does not establish the 
contention in the terms of reference that false or misleading evidence may have been 
given to the former Nauru select committee in relation to the apparent surveillance of 
a senator. On that basis, the committee therefore finds that no contempt was 
committed in this regard. 
4.10 The committee also considered evidence relating to the reporting and 
investigation of the surveillance incident, but makes no findings as to whether that 
evidence ought formally be dealt with as misleading evidence. The committee has 
published the evidence it received, with minor redactions made for reasons of privacy. 
Recording of disturbance 
4.11 The chief concern identified by the chair of the former select committee, 
Senator Gallacher was that false and misleading evidence was supplied to the select 
committee in relation to a disturbance at the Regional Processing Centre on 19 July 
2013. 

                                              
2  See paragraphs 1.11 to 1.188, above. 

3  See paragraph 2.7, above. 

4  See paragraphs 2.28 to 2.32, above. 
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4.12 The committee considers that the further response provided by Wilson 
Security clarifies the matter, and accepts on the evidence before it that the errors in the 
evidence provided to the select committee were inadvertent. The committee has no 
basis on which to challenge that contention. The record now having been corrected, 
and accepting that Wilson Security’s representatives did not knowingly provide 
misleading evidence on the matter, the committee finds that no contempt was 
committed in this regard. 
4.13 Again, the committee has published the evidence it received on this matter. 

Recommendation 
4.14 The committee recommends that the Senate: 

(a) adopt the finding at paragraph 4.9, that no contempt was committed in 
relation to the first matter referred, relating to possible false and 
misleading evidence in relation to the apparent surveillance of a senator; 
and 

(b) adopt the finding at paragraph 4.12, that no contempt was committed in 
relation to the second matter referred, relating to possible false or 
misleading evidence in relation to a disturbance at the centre on 19 July 
2013. 

Improper interference with a senator’s duties 
4.15 The committee has not been asked to consider whether the surveillance of a 
senator in the circumstances described in chapter 2 might amount to a contempt, but 
nevertheless makes the following observations.  
4.16 As has been noted,5 the Senate’s contempt jurisdiction is intended to protect 
the ability of the Senate, its committees and its members to carry out their functions 
without improper interference. Contempt in Commonwealth law is assessed by 
reference to a statutory test in section 4 of the Parliamentary Privileges Act: 

Conduct (including the use of words) does not constitute an offence against 
a House [that is, a contempt] unless it amounts, or is intended or likely to 
amount, to an improper interference with the free exercise by a House or 
committee of its authority or functions, or with the free performance by a 
member of the member’s duties as a member. 

4.17 Any conduct may constitute an offence if it satisfies this test. In this regard, 
the Senate has declared that: 

A person shall not improperly interfere with the free exercise by the Senate 
or a committee of its authority, or with the free performance by a senator of 
the senator’s duties as a senator.6 

                                              
5  See paragraph 1.11, above. 

6  Privilege Resolution 6(1). 
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4.18 It is well-established in this context that ‘improper’ does not necessarily mean 
‘unlawful’ or ‘unauthorised’. It refers to conduct which has the effect or tendency of 
obstructing the Senate or senators carrying out their functions.  
4.19 The committee last had cause to consider the scope of this prohibition in its 
160th report, noting that ‘The Senate has always taken “a robust view as to whether 
senators have been improperly obstructed”, particularly in relation to conduct 
involving intimidation, force or threat.’ 7 This approach recognises the capacity of 
senators to protect themselves, including through their access to privileged 
proceedings. The committee went on, however, to note circumstances in which 
interfering conduct might be less apparent – for instance, in the diversion of emails, 
the tapping of telephones or, in the matter dealt with in that report, through the use of 
closed-circuit television images. The committee noted that: 

The action that senators may take individually to resist these less overt 
forms of interference should they arise is limited. In such circumstances the 
committee considers that greater recourse to protection through the Senate’s 
contempt jurisdiction may be warranted.8 

4.20 It is not difficult to imagine circumstances in which the covert surveillance of 
a senator may amount to a contempt, and the committee would caution any person 
against such conduct.  
4.21 In this matter, however, the committee notes the significant jurisdictional 
difficulties which arise from the surveillance having occurred in a foreign country. 
Parliamentary privilege operates within the jurisdiction of the Commonwealth of 
Australia to protect the work of the Australian Parliament, its committees and 
members. It is not generally understood to have any extraterritorial application. For 
example, Senate committees seeking evidence from witnesses overseas are regularly 
reminded of these jurisdictional limits; that witnesses are subject to the laws of the 
countries from which they give evidence and that Australian law cannot protect them 
in respect of the publication of their evidence overseas.9 
4.22 Although it has not been conclusively determined, it is likely that the same 
jurisdictional limits would apply in relation to the investigation of the surveillance in 
this matter.  
4.23  Quite apart from the technicalities of the Senate’s privilege powers, however, 
the committee considers that it is incumbent on those who undertake any role 
connected with government activities to deal appropriately with the Senate, its 
committees and its members. As part of that requirement, the committee considers that 

                                              
7  Committee of Privileges, 160th report – The use of CCTV material in Parliament House, 

December 2014, paragraph 1.20; more generally see 125th report, paragraphs 4.27 – 4.29. 

8  160th report, paragraph 1.20 

9  See Evans H and Laing R (eds), Odgers’ Australian Senate Practice, 13th edition, 2012, p. 551. 
In that context, committees have adopted approaches calculated to reduce the risks to their 
witnesses – for instance, by declining to accept evidence or by taking evidence in camera and 
determining that it not be published. 
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any such person who becomes aware of conduct of the type identified in the statutory 
definition of contempt – that is, conduct that improperly interferes with the functions 
of the Senate or the duties of senators – should promptly bring that matter to the 
attention of the relevant authorities, the Senate or the senator concerned. The 
committee also draws attention to the need for those dealing with such matters to take 
care to provide full and accurate information, so as to avoid the need to subsequently 
correct the record. 
 
 
 
 
 
(Senator the Hon. Jacinta Collins) 

Chair 





 

Appendix 
 

Letter from Senator Di Natale to President, raising a matter of privilege, 
dated 27 October 2015 

Letter from Senator Gallacher to President, raising a matter of privilege, 
dated September 2015 

Statement by the President, 9 November 2015 

Submission made on behalf of Senator Hanson-Young, dated 8 April 2016 

 
A separate volume of documents presented to the committee accompanies this report. 
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